SUPREME COURT
STATE OF FLORIDA
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

JACQUELINE DUPREY,

Petitioner,

CASE NO.: SC07-396

vs.

Lwr Tribunal: 1D05-3340

LA PETITE ACADEMY and
GALLAGHER BASSETT,

Respondent.

_____ /

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

WAYNE W. BILSKY, ESQUIRE
2431 Lee Road
Winter Park, Florida 32789
Counsel for Claimant/Petitioner

BILL MCCABE, ESQUIRE
1450 SR 434 West,
Suite 200
Longwood, Florida 32750
Co-Counsel for
Claimant/Petitioner

This is an Initial Brief on Jurisdiction seeking to invoke discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of the First District Court of Appeal, Tallahassee, Florida, opinion rendered February 5, 2007.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, JACQUELINE DUPREY, shall be referred to herein as the "Claimant" or by her separate name.

The Respondents, LA PETITE ACADEMY and GALLAGHER BASSETT, shall be referred to herein as the "Employer/Carrier" (E/C) or by their separate names.

References to the record on appeal shall be abbreviated by the letter "V" (Volume), followed by the applicable volume and page number.

The Judge of Compensation Claims shall be referred to as the JCC.

References to the appendix attached to Petitioner's Initial Brief on Jurisdiction will be referred to by the letters "AP" and followed by the applicable appendix page number. The appendix contains the opinion issued by the First District Court of Appeal on February 5, 2007.

"IIB" refers to impairment income benefits.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This is a case involving the interpretation of the Workers' Compensation attorney fee statute, F.S. 440.34(3), as amended in 2003, that may severely impair, if not eliminate, the ability of claimants to obtain the assistance of counsel, Wood v. Florida Rock Industries, 929 So.2d 542 (Fla.1st DCA 2006), Judge Barfield, concurring opinion at page 545.

On 11/24/04, following a 10/27/04 hearing (V2-226), the JCC entered a Final Compensation order (V1-196-100, V2-202-224) finding Claimant prevailed on all four issues in dispute and thus was entitled to a 6% PPI and ten weeks of impairment benefits (V2-209); an increase in Claimant's AWW from \$378.40 to \$425.02 (V2-211); psychological counseling (V2-214) and penalties and interest (V2-216).

The JCC also stated the following concerning each benefit:

"I conclude that the Employer/Carrier **had no reasonable grounds, nor factual or legal basis** to have denied that the Claimant sustained a 6% PPI as a result of the 11/4/04 industrial accident." (V2-209,210). (emphasis added).

"Again, I find an absence of any evidence to the contrary, and that **there was no reasonable ground** for the Employer/Carrier to not have made the adjustment at or near the time the relevant petition for benefits was filed. I find there was no factual or legal basis to continue to deny the requested benefits. ." (V2-211). (emphasis added).

"Again, I find a total absence of any evidence to the contrary on these points as the Employer/Carrier presented no medical opinion to support its position. I find that there **was no reasonable ground for** the Employer/Carrier not

to provide psychological counseling sometime ago. . . ." (V2-214). (emphasis added).

". . .I find an absence of any evidence to the contrary, that there was **no reasonable ground, or legal or factual basis**, for the Employer/Carrier to not have paid the Claimant the penalties and interest due." (V2-216). (emphasis added).

The JCC found that counsel for Claimant reasonably expended 82 hours to secure the aforesaid benefits (V2-1930,1931), with a total value of \$2,526.40 resulting in a statutory guideline fee per F.S.440.34(1)(2003) of \$505.12 or \$6.16 per hour (V10-1932,1933). Counsel for the E/C was paid \$8,189.00 (86.2 hours at \$95.00 per hour) (V4-708, V10-1933) even though he did not prevail on any issue in dispute (save an offset of 2 weeks IIB).

The JCC found that the fixed statutory percentage resulting in an attorney's fee of \$6.16 per hour could not be interpreted as a "reasonable attorney's fee" under F.S.440.34(3)(b)(2003) (V10-1932,1933), and on 6/24/05 the JCC entered an order awarding counsel for Claimant attorney's fees for 82 hours at \$250 per hour for a total \$20,050 (V10-1934,1935).

Following an appeal and a cross-appeal, the First DCA, on 2/5/07 entered an opinion reversing the JCC's 6/24/05 order.

The First DCA, in its 2/5/07 opinion stated that:

"This Court has previously considered the application of the Legislature's 2003 Amendments to Section 440.34, Florida Statutes, in a number of our recent decisions, and held in workers compensation cases, a fee award must be based on the value of the benefits actually obtained on behalf of the Claimant." (AP-2).

The First DCA in its 2/5/07 opinion also stated:

"We reject the merits of Claimant's cross-appeal because this Court has previously concluded that Section 440.34, as amended in 2003, violates neither the Florida nor the United States Constitutions." (AP-3).

POINTS ON APPEAL

POINT I

WHETHER OR NOT THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THE CASE AT BAR EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS OF THIS HONORABLE COURT IN OLIVE V. MASS, 811 So.2d 644(Fla.2002), MAKEMSON V. MARTIN COUNTY, 491 So.2d 1109(Fla.1986), AND LEE ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION COMPANY V. FELLOWS, 209 So.2d 454(Fla.1968), THE DECISION OF THE 5TH DCA IN MARION COUNTY V. JOHNSON, 586 So.2d 1163(Fla.5TH DCA 1991), AND THE DECISION OF THE 2ND DCA IN BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY V. SCRUGGS, 545 So.2d 910(Fla.2ND DCA 1989).

POINT II

WHETHER OR NOT THIS HONORABLE COURT HAS JURISDICTION BASED ON THE GROUNDS THAT THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL EXPRESSLY DECLARED FLORIDA STATUTE 440.34, AS AMENDED IN 2003, TO BE VALID AND CONSTITUTIONAL.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I

The opinion rendered by the First DCA conflicts with the decision of this Honorable Court in Lee Engineering and Construction Company v. Fellows, 209 So.2d 454(Fla.1968). wherein this Honorable Court held that a "reasonable attorney's fee" was to be determined by considering various factors. To the contrary, the First DCA has held that a "reasonable attorney's fee" as set forth in F.S.440.34(3)(2003), was to be determined

based strictly on the statutory guideline fee set forth in F.S.440.34(1)(2003), thereby eliminating any judicial discretion is determining a reasonable fee.

The decision of the First DCA conflicts with the decisions of this Honorable Court, in Olive v. Maas, 811 So.2d 644 (Fla.2002) and Makemson v. Martin County, 491 So.2d 1109(Fla.1986), because the First DCA concluded that a "reasonable attorney's fee" to be paid by the E/C "must be based on the value of the benefits actually obtained on behalf of the Claimant" without taking into consideration the fact that extraordinary circumstances may be involved. To the contrary, in Olive v. Maas, *Supra*, and Makemson v. Martin County, *Supra*, this Honorable Court held that trial courts are authorized to award attorney fees in excess of a statutory schedule where extraordinary or unusual circumstances exist.

POINT II

The First DCA specifically concluded that F.S.440.34 as amended in 2003, violates neither the Florida nor the United States constitutions (AP-3). This Honorable Court therefore has jurisdiction to review this matter since the First DCA has upheld the constitutionality of F.S.440.34(2003), De Ayala v. Florida Farm Bureau Casualty Insurance, 543 So.2d 204(Fla.1989).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

WHETHER OR NOT THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THE CASE AT BAR EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISIONS OF THIS HONORABLE COURT IN OLIVE V. MASS, 811 So.2d 644(FLA.2002), MAKEMSON V. MARTIN COUNTY, 491 So.2d 1109(Fla.1986), AND LEE ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION COMPANY V. FELLOWS, 209 So.2d 454(Fla.1968), THE DECISION OF THE 5TH DCA IN MARION COUNTY V. JOHNSON, 586 So.2d 1163(Fla.5TH DCA 1991), AND THE DECISION OF THE 2ND DCA IN BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY V. SCRUGGS, 545 So.2d 910(Fla.2ND DCA 1989).

Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Fla. Const., and Fla.R.App.P.9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) provides that the jurisdiction of this Honorable Court may be invoked to review any decision of a District Court of Appeal that: "Expressly or directly conflicts with a decision of another District Court of Appeal or of the Supreme Court on the same question of law."

Jurisdiction of this Honorable Court on a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction based upon a conflict depends on whether the conflict between decisions below is express and direct and not whether the conflict is inherent or implied, Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. National Adoption Counseling Service Inc., 498 So.2d 888(Fla. 1986). For purposes of determining conflict jurisdiction, this Honorable Court is limited to the facts which appear on the face of the opinion, Hardee v. State, 534 So.2d 706(Fla.1988).

In the case at bar, the JCC found that Claimant was entitled to recover "a reasonable attorney's fee" from the E/C per the provisions of F.S.440.34(3)(2003) (V2-216,217).

In Lee Engineering and Construction Company v. Fellows, Supra, this Honorable Court held that a "reasonable attorney's fee" in a workers compensation case was to be determined by considering various listed factors (time and labor, et al)

Effective 10/1/77, the Workers' Compensation Statute included, for the very first time, a statutory guideline attorney's fee, see F.S.440.34(1)(1977). The aforesaid statute also set forth other enumerated factors which were from this Honorable Court's decision in Lee Engineering and Construction Company v. Fellows, Supra, for the JCC to consider, and the JCC could increase or decrease the attorney's fee if in his judgment the circumstances of the particular case warranted such action. Effective 10/1/03, the Legislature amended F.S.440.34(1)(2003) by leaving in the statutory guideline fee, but by eliminating the other enumerated factors from Lee Engineering, Supra. However, the statutory language in F.S.440.34(3)(2003), which is the portion of the attorney's fee statute that allows a Claimant to recover his attorney's fees from the Employer/Carrier under certain circumstances, was unchanged. Thus, even with the 2003 amendments to F.S.440.34(1)(2003), a Claimant, per the provisions of F.S.440.34(3)(2003) is still entitled to recover a

"reasonable attorney's fee" from an E/C under certain circumstances, including the successful prosecution of a claim.

Claimant respectfully submits that the decision of the First DCA which defines a "reasonable attorney's fee" that a Claimant can recover from an Employer/Carrier, per the provisions of F.S.440.34(1)(2003) strictly to the statutory guideline fee set forth in F.S.440.34(1)(2003), conflicts with this Honorable Court's definition of a "reasonable attorney's fee" in Lee Engineering, Supra, which requires the JCC to take into consideration various factors before arriving at a reasonable attorney's fee.

Petitioner further respectfully submits that even if the First DCA was correct in concluding that "a reasonable attorney's fee" as set forth in F.S.440.34(3)(2003) is based on the statutory guideline attorney's fee as set forth in F.S.440.34(1)(2003) (even though there is nothing in F.S.440.34(3)(2003) that so indicates), the opinion of the First DCA conflicts with the decisions of this Honorable Court in Olive v. Maas, 811 So.2d 644(Fla.2002), and Makemson v. Martin County, 491 So.2d 1109(Fla.1986) and the decision of the Fifth DCA in Marion County v. Johnson, 586 So.2d 1163(Fla.5th DCA 1991) and the decision of the Second DCA in Board of County Commissioners of Hillsborough County v. Scruggs, 545 So.2d 910(Fla.2nd DCA 1989), because the Courts in the above referenced

cases have held that a trial court may exceed the statutory maximum in order to enable it to perform its essential judicial functioning of insuring adequate representation by competent counsel in cases involving extraordinary circumstances. In the case at bar, there were clearly extraordinary circumstances, in that counsel for Claimant had to expend 82 hours and advance costs of \$3,834.28 to secure \$2,526.40 in benefits in a case where the JCC found that the E/C had no reasonable grounds, nor factual or legal basis, to deny the benefits sought by the Claimant (V2-209,210,211,214,216,221). Nevertheless, the First DCA indicated that "a reasonable attorney's fee" to be paid to counsel for Claimant by the E/C per F.S.440.34(3)(2003) "must be based on the value of the benefits actually obtained on behalf of the Claimant" which results in an attorney's fee of \$6.16 per hour, and eliminates any judicial discretion.

POINT II

WHETHER OR NOT THIS HONORABLE COURT HAS JURISDICTION BASED ON THE GROUNDS THAT THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL EXPRESSLY DECLARED FLORIDA STATUTE 440.34, AS AMENDED IN 2003, TO BE VALID AND CONSTITUTIONAL.

Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. and Fla.R.App.P.9.030(a)(2)(A)(i) provides that the jurisdiction of this Honorable Court may be invoked to review any decision of a District Court of Appeal that: ". . .Expressly declares valid a State statute."

In the case at bar, the opinion of the First DCA expressly declares valid F.S.440.34, as amended in 2003 (AP-3). Therefore, Petitioner respectfully submits that the jurisdiction of this Honorable Court may be invoked, De Ayala v. Florida Farm Bureau Casualty Insurance, 543 So.2d 204(Fla.1989), Acton II v. Fort Lauderdale Hospital, 440 So.2d 1282(Fla.1983)

Prior to the 10/1/03 amendments to F.S.440.34(2003), a JCC had the discretion to deviate from the statutory guideline when the presumptive fee produced by the statutory formula is "manifestly unfair", Davis v. Bon Secours-Maria Manor, 892 So.2d 516(Fla.1st DCA 2004). The decision of the First DCA herein does not allow any deviation from the statutory guideline fee.

This Honorable Court in Makemson v. Martin County, Supra, held that statutory fee maximums for court appointed counsel representing defendants in capital cases "when inflexibly imposed in cases involving unusual or extraordinary circumstances" interfere with a defendants sixth amendment right to have the assistance of counsel and are unconstitutional when applied in such a manner as to curtail the courts inherent power to ensure the adequate representation of the criminally accused. Inflexible statutory fee caps could result in a confiscation of an attorney's time, energy and talents, Makemson, supra.

The Makemson rationale has been applied by sister Courts in workers compensation attorney fee cases, Irwin v. Surdyk's

Liquor, 599 N.W. 132(Minn 1999), Joseph v. Oliphant Roofing Company, 711 A. 2nd 805(Del.Super.1997)(Makemson cited).

The necessity of enabling a Claimant to have representation of adequate counsel in a workers compensation proceeding has long been recognized by this Honorable Court, Lee Engineering, *Supra*, as well as decisions from the First DCA, see e.g. Davis v. Keto Inc., 463 So.2d 368(Fla.1st DCA 1985) (without the aid of competent counsel Claimant would have been helpless as a turtle on its back) Judge Barfield indicated in his concurring opinion in Wood, *supra* that the statute "severely impairs, if not eliminates, the ability of Claimants to obtain the assistance of counsel", Wood, *supra* at 545.

In a Workers Compensation case, a mandated, inflexible statutory cap on the amount of an attorney's fee that counsel for Claimant may receive, when there is no such restriction on the amount of an attorney's fee the E/C may pay their attorney, was held unconstitutional as a denial of the Claimant's equal protection rights, Horn v. New Mexico Educators Federal Credit Union, 899 P. 2nd 234(N.M.Ct ofApp 1994).

CONCLUSION

For the above stated reasons, Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court grant Petitioner's Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction and accept jurisdiction of this appeal.