IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Jacqueline Duprey,  
Petitioner,

Case No.: SC07-398

vs.

La Petite Academy  
and  
Gallagher Bassett Services, Inc.,

Respondents.

\_\_\_\_\_ /

-----

---

RESPONDENTS' INITIAL BRIEF  
OPPOSING DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION

-----

---

-----

---

This is an Initial Brief on Jurisdiction opposing the request to invoke discretionary jurisdiction to review the February 5, 2007 decision of the First District Court of Appeal, Tallahassee, Fla.

-----

---

RESPONDENTS:

APPEARING ON BEHALF OF

Patrick John McGinley, Esquire  
Fla. Bar. No. 0085881  
Law Office of Patrick John

IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

McGinley, P.A.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This attempt to invoke discretionary jurisdiction involves the sole issue of whether the Petitioner's attorney, a workers' compensation practitioner, will be paid using the statutory formula mandated by the Workers' Compensation Act or via some other method the courts might conjure. Before Respondents won their reversal, Respondents argued before a Judge of Compensation Claims for the Orlando District ("JCC"), but failed to convince him, that Florida Statutes section 440.34 mandated a fee calculated as a percentage of the benefits won. Petitioner argued, and convinced the JCC, that he may disregard section 440.34's fee formula in favor of a fee the JCC found to be "reasonable." As a result, the JCC before reversal awarded a fee equal to an additional eight hundred eleven percent (811%) of the benefits obtained, despite section 440.34's limit of an additional twenty percent (20%). Florida's First District Court of Appeal reversed the 811% award, remanding to the JCC to re-compute the fee by using section 440.34's formula. The First District's opinion, from which discretionary review is sought, is called the OPINION throughout this brief.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

We respectfully point out that the following 3 allegations in Petitioner's Statement of the Facts have no factual support in the Record: (1) section 440.34 impaired

Petitioner's ability to obtain the assistance of counsel; (2) claimant prevailed on all issues before the JCC; and (3) all of Respondents' defenses had no reasonable grounds. In this regard, the following additional facts from the Record are noteworthy.

Petitioner's entitlement to attorney fees resulted from 5 partially successful claims out of 14 claims made. In calculating a "reasonable" fee instead of a statutory fee, the JCC compensated Petitioner for all time spent on all claims regardless of the success or failure of the claim because the JCC found the time spent on the failed claims was "too intertwined with time pertaining to issues adjudicated to serve as a basis to reduce the amount of the attorney fee claimed." (See Order on Appeal at pg. 4, properly appearing in the Record on Appeal as pg. 1930a [hereinafter "Fee Order pg. 4"].)

Petitioner's 14 claims began with her first Petition for Benefits ("PFB") dated March 26, 2004 which sought "[1] authorization of a lumbar CT scan...[2] adjust AWW...[3] authorization of physical therapy...and [4] [decisions on issues regarding how the claimant allegedly] never requested a change of doctor...." (R.1954-1955.) On May 17, 2004, a second PFB sought "[5] Temporary Total Disability [("TTD")] from 4/5/04 to present and continuing...and [6] Temporary Partial Disability [("TPD")] from 4/5/04 to present and

continuing...." (R.1958-1960.) On June 25, 2004, a third PFB repeated her claim to adjust the AWW and additionally sought "[7] TTD and/or [8] TPD and/or [9] IB benefits from 5/21/04 and/or 6/1/04 through the present and as long as appropriate...[10] authorization of TENS unit as prescribed by Dr. Jungreis...and [11] authorization of second opinion and/or change of physician ...." (R.1961-1963.) On August 2, 2004, a fourth PFB sought "[12] authorization of psychological counseling...and [13] authorization of change of neurologist...." (R.1965-1967.) In all four PFBs, Petitioner sought "[14] penalties and interest" on all financial benefits claimed. (R.1954-1967.)

On October 27, 2004, the JCC held a trial/merit hearing on all ripe, due and owing claims. Voluntary dismissals of several of the 14 claims above preceded the trial. Several defenses were adjudicated at the trial, but the ones that prevailed in part were that the claimant voluntarily limited her income; and that the Petitioner's employment was terminated for cause. (R.1439-65.) A July 23, 2004 letter (Supp.R.2044) and the employer's testimony (Supp.R.2023-26) explained the Petitioner's termination. Although not asserted specifically as a defense, the claimant's base Average Weekly Wage (her "AWW", or rate of pay under section 440.14 used for all past and future benefits) was revealed to be lower than the base AWW in use until that date, so the claimant's base

AWW was lowered by the Judge prior to adding the claimed "fringe benefits" to the AWW. (R.1439-65.)

The following table illustrates the ultimate outcome of each of Petitioner's 14 claims:

Claim number	Outcome: Did Petitioner prevail on this claim? (Record cite in parenthesis)
1	NO (R.1439-65.)
2	YES IN PART: The base AWW was lowered, but "fringe benefits" were added.
3	NO (R.1439-65.)
4	NO (R.1439-65.)
5	NO (R.1439-65.)
6	YES IN PART: no additional weeks of TPD were awarded, but the rate of pay changed due to the change in AWW.
7	NO (R.1439-65.)
8	NO (R.1439-65.)
9	YES IN PART: IB's were awarded, but reduced because the Judge agreed with the defense that the claimant limited her income (deemed earnings were applied).
10	NO (R.1439-65.)
11	NO (R.1439-65.)
12	YES
13	NO (R.1439-65.)

14	YES IN PART: Penalties and interest denied except as to the claims won above.
----	---

Therefore, the table above can best be summarized by stating that the Petitioner prevailed on some of her 14 claims insofar as she received a reduced award of \$2,526.40 in indemnity benefits inclusive of penalties and interest plus authorization of psychological counseling. (R.1443.) For these benefits, the JCC awarded Petitioner her attorney's fees payable by Respondents.

**POINTS ON APPEAL IN OPPOSITION TO REQUEST FOR REVIEW**

**ONE:** The OPINION interprets section 440.34 consistently with every other Fee Order ever entered statewide by the Offices of the Judges of Compensation Claims. **TWO:** The OPINION does not conflict with any other decision. **THREE:** The OPINION is a "Citation PCA" that this Court lacks jurisdiction to review. **FOUR:** Discretionary review is unnecessary once again, for the same reason as This Court found discretionary review of this same issue unnecessary 4 prior times in the past 7 months. **FIVE:** Petitioner owes taxable costs for attempting review.

**SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT OPPOSING REVIEW**

This Court declined discretionary review of this exact same issue 4 times in the past 7 months and was wise to do so. With the sole exception of the Fee Order reversed herein,

every legislative and judicial body interprets section 440.34 consistently. From the halls of the Legislature, to the seventeen districts comprising the statewide Office of the Judges of Compensation Claims, to the six different First District panels to address this issue, literally everyone reached the same interpretation. With such unanimity and certainty on this issue, there is simply no dispute for the Supreme Court to address.

**ARGUMENT OPPOSING DISCRETIONARY REVIEW**

**I. THERE IS NO CONFLICT BETWEEN THE ORDER ON APPEAL AND EVERY OTHER FEE ORDER EVER ENTERED BY THE OJCC**

Petitioner urges review based on conflict, but there is no conflict, neither before the appellate courts nor before the seventeen districts comprising the statewide Office of the Judges of Compensation Claims (hereinafter "the OJCC"). Respectfully we point out that with the sole exception of the Fee Order that was reversed by the OPINION, the OJCC has never entered a Fee Order conflicting with the interpretation found in the OPINION.

Collectively, long before Florida's First District Court of Appeal ever interpreted section 440.34, the OJCC was interpreting and implementing section 440.34's fee cap statewide since its passage four years ago. See Senate Bill 50A, 2003 Fla. Legislature (making 440.34 effective for all accidents on or after Oct. 1, 2003). The OJCC is the state

agency charged with interpreting and implementing section 440.34, and This Honorable Supreme Court holds that "an agency's interpretation of a statute it is charged with enforcing is entitled to great deference." Ameristeel Corp. v. Clark, 691 So.2d 473 (Fla.1997). Accord PW Ventures, Inc. v. Nichols, 533 So.2d 281 (Fla.1988). Despite the lack of a First District interpretation, every OJCC Fee Order ever entered interpreting 440.34 (except the Fee Order reversed by the OPINION) interpreted 440.34 exactly as the First District did once the First District finally made its review. See Sepulveda v. Gale Interior Solutions, OJCC Case#04-006773ORL (OJCC Orlando Feb.2005); Phillips v. Edward Healy Rehab Center, OJCC Case #03-044576TMB (OJCC West Palm Beach Mar.2005); Wood v. Florida Rock, OJCC Case#04-013370WJC (OJCC Orlando Mar.2005); McTierman v. Pinellas Suncoast Transit Authority, OJCC Case#04-028606LLH (OJCC St. Petersburg May 2005); Campbell v. Aramark, OJCC Case #04-006767MAD (OJCC West Palm Beach July 2005); Buitrago v. Landry's, OJCC Case #03-028649EHL & #04-013626EHL (OJCC Tampa Aug.2005); Lundy v. Four Seasons, OJCC Case #03-041427SHP (OJCC West Palm Beach Nov.2005); Parker v. Pensacola Care, Inc., OJCC Case #05-9094JJL (JCC Tallahassee Feb.2006); Bass v. Target Stores, Inc., OJCC Case#05-4912JJL (OJCC Tallahassee July 2006). Therefore, the OPINION does not

conflict with how the OJCC interpreted 440.34 collectively prior to First District review.

Likewise, the OPINION does not conflict with, but instead is in accord with, every other decision of the First District that directly interprets 440.34 after its amendment in 2003. Wood v. Fla. Rock Indus., 929 So.2d 542 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006), rev. denied, 935 So.2d 1221 (Fla.2006); Lundy v. Four Seasons Ocean Grand Palm Beach, 932 So.2d 506 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006), rev. denied, 939 So.2d 93 (Fla.2006); Campbell v. Aramark, 933 So.2d 1255 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006), rev. denied, 944 So.2d 986 (Fla.2006); Phillips v. Edward Healy Rehab. Ctr., 933 So.2d 600 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006); Murray v. Mariner's Health, 31 Fla.L.Weekly 3016 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006); Buitrago v. Landry's, 31 Fla.L.Weekly 2340 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006). The First District, having addressed this issue in no fewer than 6 cases using 6 different panels, has certainly done a thorough review. The issue has been so exhaustively addressed by the First District that it has stopped certifying the question and begun affirming the OJCC by simply entering a PCA. See Phillips, 933 So.2d at 600.

Finally, the OPINION does not conflict directly with any decision from any other District. The First District is the sole statewide venue for workers' compensation appeals. See sec. 440.271, Fla. Stat. No other District has venue, and thus, there is no inter-District conflict to resolve.

**II. THERE IS NO CONFLICT, DIRECT OR INDIRECT, BETWEEN THE FIRST DISTRICT'S OPINION AND ANY OTHER APPELLATE CASE LAW**

By ignoring the statutory amendments, Petitioner argues there is intra-District conflict between the OPINION and the 30-year-old decision in Lee Engin'g & Constr. Co. v. Fellows, 209 So.2d 454 (Fla.1964), but this is wrong because Lee does not interpret current law but instead a law that has been altered and amended twenty-two (22) times between the day Lee was issued through today. See ss. 17, 35, ch. 69-106; s. 365, ch. 71-136; s. 119, ch. 71-355; s. 18, ch. 75-209; s. 9, ch. 77-290; ss. 10, 23, ch. 78-300; ss. 27, 124, ch. 79-40; ss. 15, 21, ch. 79-312; s. 14, ch. 80-236; s. 12, ch. 83-305; s. 4, ch. 86-171; ss. 19, 43, ch. 89-289; ss. 29, 56, ch. 90-201; ss. 27, 52, ch. 91-1; s. 32, ch. 91-46; s. 3, ch. 91-47; s. 252, ch. 91-224; s. 34, ch. 93-415; s. 120, ch. 97-103; s. 21, ch. 2001-91; s. 13, ch. 2002-236; s. 26, ch. 2003-412, Laws of Florida. The statute interpreted in Lee cannot be said to be the same statute that exists today. The most recent amendments explicitly removed the codification of the factors analyzed in Lee. See ch. 2003-412, Laws of Florida. When the Florida Legislature excludes or deletes a statutory provision, the exclusion will be considered intentional and the courts assign meaning to the omission. See BellSouth Telecomm., Inc. v. Meeks, 863 So.2d 287, 291 (Fla.2003). Thus, the OPINION did its duty in assigning meaning to the Legislature's action,

leaving no need for This Court to exercise discretionary review.

The criminal-law "Sixth Amendment Right to Counsel" decisions cited by Petitioner, such as Olive v. Maas, 811 So.2d 644 (Fla.2002) and Makemson v. Martin County, 491 So.2d 1109 (Fla.1986), do not conflict with the OPINION. Neither the First District nor the JCC found -- and no party ever alleged -- that Petitioner is accused of a crime and is therefore entitled to Sixth Amendment rights. In Olive v. Maas, 811 So.2d 644 (Fla.2002), This Court noted that "Mark Evan Olive is a Florida attorney who routinely represents defendants on death row in postconviction proceedings.... His concern is based on a series of cases from this Court which, in short, provide that statutory maximum fees may be unconstitutional when they are inflexibly imposed in cases involving unusual or extraordinary circumstances because these caps interfere with the trial court's inherent power to ensure adequate representation and the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to assistance of counsel. See Makemson v. Martin County, 491 So.2d 1109 (Fla.1986)...." Because the Sixth Amendment right to counsel only applies to criminal proceedings, there can be no conflict between today's civil law decision and criminal law decisions such as Olive and Makemson.

### III. A "CITATION PCA" IS NOT ELIGIBLE FOR REVIEW

Petitioners, citing how Florida Statutes section 440.34 withstood constitutional attack, urge discretionary review on that ground. However, the only constitutional attack came via cross-appeal, and the portion of the opinion denying the constitutional attack should be considered nothing more than a "Citation PCA." "A per curiam decision that merely cites a controlling precedent...[is] sometimes referred to as a 'Citation PCA' [and] is not reviewable...." Hon. Philip J. Padovano, Florida Appellate Practice sec. 3.10 (2007 edition).

**IV. THE COURT SHOULD DENY DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THIS CASE JUST AS IT DID IN THE OTHER 3 CASES RAISING THIS IDENTICAL ISSUE**

This Honorable Court was wise to deny discretionary review of this very same issue 3 times in the past 7 months. Wood v. Fla. Rock Indus., 929 So.2d 542 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006), rev. denied, 935 So.2d 1221 (Fla.2006); Lundy v. Four Seasons Ocean Grand Palm Beach, 932 So.2d 506 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006), rev. denied, 939 So.2d 93 (Fla.2006); Campbell v. Aramark, 933 So.2d 1255 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006), rev. denied, 944 So.2d 986 (Fla.2006). With the OJCC uniformly interpreting 440.34, and the First District agreeing with that interpretation in 6 successive opinions, there is simply no need to resolve a "dispute" because none exists.

**CONCLUSION**

WHEREFORE, Respondents respectfully request This Honorable Court to DECLINE discretionary review; and to award Respondents their taxable appellate cost under sec.440.34, Fla. Stat. (2003).